I. INTRODUCTION 

On two separate occasions, members of the public were excluded from 

observing Mr. Freeman's 2003 trial- first during voir dire and then again during 

testimony. There is no record that the trial court ever considered any alternatives 

to closing the proceedings. When brought to the trial court's attention upon a 

motion for a new trial, the court failed to acknowledge that at the time of trial Mr. 

Freeman was entitled to have the court consider alternatives to closing the 

proceedings. While the law has not changed since the time of Mr. Freeman's 

trial, recent opinions from both the state and United States Supreme courts have 

emphasized the importance of the public trial right that was violated during Mr. 

Freeman's trial. Despite recently being facilitated the opportunity to correct the 

injustice that occurred during Mr. Freeman's trial, the trial court refused to do so. 

As such, Mr. Freeman respectfully begs this Court to consider the mistakes that 

occurred during his trial, the evolution of the law relating to the right to a public 

trial, and the injustice associated with the trial court's recent decision not to grant 

him a new trial. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Freeman's 7.8 

motion. 
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III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Whether the trial court erred when it denied Mr. Freeman's 

7.8 motion? (Assignments of Error #1) 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Procedural History 

Petitioner Robert Lee Freeman was convicted of rape of a child in the first, 

second, and third degree and child molestation in first, second, and third degree 

following a jury trial on March 27, 2003. He was sentenced to a term of280 

months on September 12, 2003. CP 2.1 

Since his 2003 sentencing, Mr. Freeman's case has continually been under 

the jurisdiction of the full range of appellate courts, including the Court of 

Appeals, State Supreme Court, US District Court, 9th Circuit, and the United 

States Supreme Court. CP 4-6. 

Once the United States Supreme Court rejected Mr. Freeman's Petition for 

Writ of Certiorari, Mr. Freeman timely filed a motion to the trial court under CrR 

7.8. CP 1-13. In that motion Petitioner Freeman sought a new trial. Id. That 

. motion was denied. He now seeks relief from the Court of Appeals, requesting 

the court find the trial court erred when it refused to grant Mr. Freeman's motion 

for a new trial. 

B. Facts 

Petitioner Robert Lee Freeman was convicted of rape of a child in the first, 

second, and third degree and child molestation in first, second, and third degree 

I All references to CP and RP, herein, include references to those materials pertaining to the CrR 7.8 Motion for a 
New Trial. Because this case has been previously appealed, references that pre-date the CrR 7.8 motion are 
separately specified using dates and are properly cited within Mr. Freeman's 7.8 brief(CP 1-13). 
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following a jury trial on March 27, 2003. He was sentenced to a term of280 

months on September 12,2003. CP 2.2 

During the course of trial, observers were required to leave the courtroom 

on two occasions. The first instance of spectator removal occurred during voir 

dire. CP 2, 37. After the court's off-the-record partial closing of the courtroom, 

the court referenced its actions on the record during a discussion about voir dire 

logistics: 

MR. COLASURDO: Okay. Because we both are working 
off charts, and if you start moving people around -

THE COURT: That's why I told him his witnesses3 

probably can't sit in here, because people stay in the same 
seats. 

MR. COLASURDO: Great. 

THE COURT: It's a lot easier for everybody to pick their 
people that way. 

Okay. Any questions? 

During the 7.8 motion, the court had the benefit of declarations of Aria 

Freeman, John Freeman, Mary Freeman, and Jean Freeman supporting that the 

public was removed twice during the trial. CP 58-65. 

The second occasion of courtroom closure involved the court ordering Mr. 

Freeman's fiance, Aria Rozotti, to leave the courtroom during the testimony of 

2 All references to CP and RP, herein, include references to those materials pertaining to the CrR 7.8 Motion for a 
New Trial. Because this case has been previously appealed, references that pre-date the CrR 7.8 motion are 
separately specified using dates. 
3 The court misspoke when referencing "witnesses." There is no question the court meant Petitioner's family and 
supporters. 
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Mr. Freeman's ex-wife. CP 774• As it relates to the removal of Ms. Rozotti, the 

following excerpt from the trial transcript is informative: 

CP77. 

CP78. 

CP79. 

MR. COLASURDO: ... The other thing is - there's two 
other things The State would ask that during the testimony 
of Virginia Freeman and Arnie Freeman that Ms. Aria 
Rozotti be excused .... 

After Ms. Rozotti was identified, the prosecutor proceeded as follows, 

MR. COLASURDO: So, in fairness to the two witnesses 
who do have an anti-harassment order, I would ask that she 
be excluded during their testimony. 

The dialogue continued: 

THE COURT: Any Objection? 

MR. FREEBORN: Your Honor, I mean, I don't think it's 
really relevant to this matter. However, you know, in the 
interest of just getting this thing running through smoothly, 
I don't have a problem with her stepping out for that 
testimony. 

THE COURT: All right. I will grant the motion. 

In two separate incidents, the court closed a public courtroom without ever 

considering reasonable alternatives to closing the proceeding. Additionally, the 

court made no findings related to its decision to close the courtroom. 

As shown comprehensively in his trial court briefing, Mr. Freeman's case, 

despite appearing old (it was a 2003 trial), has not rested since the time oftrial. 

See, CP 1-13(thoroughly documenting the long procedural history and levels of 

4 Exhibit F was not originally obtained by Mr. Freeman's appellate counsel but has since been acquired 
(note certification date of October 15, 2008. RP (3/17/2003) 42). 
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appeal through which Mr. Freeman's case has travelled, and showing the present 

issue ripe for the present appeal.) It returned to the trial court for the mentioned 

CrR 7.8 Motion for a New Trial in as timely a manner as the appellate process 

allowed, given the full breadth appellate and federal court jurisdiction were 

pending in the interim. This appeal of the CrR 7.8 Motion for a New Trial timely 

follows. As the court is undoubtedly aware, virtually all levels of appellate courts 

have addressed the public trial issue over the course of the past decade. This 

appeal seeks application of law that the courts have subsequently held existed 

prior to and during Mr. Freeman's trial, and asks the court to reverse his case and 

remand it for a new trial for the very reason that his right to a public trial was 

violated. 

During the recent CrR 7.8 hearing the trial court failed to recognize it had 

improperly handled the public trial issue at the time of trial. Therefore, the trial 

court erred when it denied Mr. Freeman's motion for a new trial. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS mSTIFICATIONS FOR DENIAL 
OF MR. FREEMAN'S 7.8 MOTION. 

A trial court's denial ofa motion for a new trial under CrR 7.8(b) is 

reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Olivera-Avila, 89 Wn. App. 313, 317, 

949 P.2d 824 (1997) (citing State v. Ellis, 76 Wn. App. 391, 394,884 P.2d 1360 

(1994)). 
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CrR 7.8(b)(5) permits a judgment to be vacated for "any other reason 

justifying release." In Re Personal Restraint of Cadwaller, 155 Wn.2d 867, 880, 

123 P.3d 456 (2005). The rule does not apply when the circumstances offered for 

vacation existed at the time that the judgment was entered. State v. Zavala

Reynoso, 127 Wn.App. 119, 123, 110 P.3d 827 (2005). Relief from a final 

judgment may only be vacated in certain limited, extraordinary circumstances 

required by the interest of just ice. State v. Brand, 120 Wn.2d 365, 369, 842 P.2d 

470 (1992). These extraordinary circumstances must relate to fundamental, 

substantial irregularities in the court's proceedings or to irregularities extraneous 

to the court's action. State v. Aguirre, 73 Wn.App. 682, 688,871 P.2d 616, review 

denied, 124 Wn.2d 1028,883 P.2d 326 (1994). "The time limit for seeking relief 

is 'a reasonable time'." CrR 7.8(b); See State v. Golden, 112 Wn.App. 68,47 

P.2d 587 (2002) (8 12 years was not an unreasonable time to bring a motion for 

relief from judgment). 

Here, the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Mr. Freeman's 

motion for a new trial for the following reasons: 

First, despite Mr. Freeman's argument that the law the court was asked to 

follow existed prior to Mr. Freeman's trial, the trial court erroneously found that, 

" ... it is not contested that at the time of this trial existing current case law was 

followed." CP 140. It was indeed contested and the above facts were exemplified 

in briefing to show the trial court what mistakes were made during the trial and 

how those mistakes violated both the State and Federal constitutions at the time of 
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the trial. Most importantly, this issue was argued in the CrR 7.8 briefing arguing 

for a new trial, as well as during oral argument. See, CP 1-13, RP 2-36. 

Second, the court erred in its reliance upon the judge's own memory as 

opposed to the official record of the proceedings, when it stated, " ... the court 

does not have independent memory sufficient to verify that these events occurred 

and must depend on the official transcript for this purpose." Id. Respectfully, as 

noted above, there were two documented instances of courtroom closure. Each of 

the instances was elaborated upon and explained in the declarations that were also 

submitted by Mr. Freeman in his motion for new trial. The trial court's 

conclusions were erroneous. 

Importantly, there is no doubt that Mr. Freeman's motion was properly 

before the trial court; and the court heard the motion on its merits. In fact, instead 

of filing a response brief to the trial court on this issue, the state filed a motion 

asking the trial court to send Mr. Freeman's requested relief to the Court of 

Appeals as a PRP. The trial court did not, and, as indicated, went ahead and heard 

the motion at a full hearing, denied relief, and entered findings and conclusions as 

indicated. See, CP 139-141. Accordingly, the matter is now before this court for 

review on direct appeal. 

The public trial right was clearly violated by the two instances 
of courtroom closure in Mr. Freeman's case. Because this area 
of law has been substantially refined since Mr. Freeman's 
conviction in 2003, Mr. Freeman should have been granted a 
new trial. 

As noted above, while Mr. Freeman's case was pending before the U.S. 

Supreme Court, Division I of the Washington Court of Appeals handed down its 

opinion in State v. Njonge, 161 Wn.App 568, 255 P.3d 753 (2011). The Njonge 
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opinion addressed removal of the public from the jury selection process. The 

court's reversal was based on the following holding: 

... Because the court excluded the public from a portion 
of jury selection without applying the Bone-Club test, 
we reverse Njonge's conviction and remand for a new 
trial. 

Id. at 580. 

It is critical for the court to note that Njonge was published while Mr. 

Freeman's case was pending before the U.S. Supreme Court. The previous 

appellate court review related only to the second public trial right issue - the 

removal of Aria Rosetti during a witness's testimony. See, CP 107-108 

(discussion of exhaustion of public trial issue). Because there was new law on the 

issue of voir dir courtroom closure, it was motion requesting a new trial. As 

mentioned, the trial court proceeded, but it denied the motion and requested relief. 

Despite the age of the issue, the voir dire public trial issue is for the first 

time ripe to bring before the trial court. An examination of the appellate history, 

including habeas history, reveals that appellate review precluded bringing the new 

issue back before the court until final review occurred. Two reasons support this: 

First, the transcripts shedding light on the voir dire removal of the public were not 

available until produced for Habeas review - and this did not occur until Habeas