NO. 68633-0-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ROBERT LEE FREEMAN,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE RICHARD MCDERMOTT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

A. ISSUE PRESENTED

1. CrR 7.8(c)(2) requires the superior court to transfer an untimely collateral attack to the court of appeals for consideration as a personal restraint petition. Freeman filed a CrR 7.8 motion for relief from judgment after the one-year time limit for collateral attacks had expired. The trial court denied the untimely motion instead of transferring it to this Court. Freeman has previously filed a personal restraint petition in this Court, which was dismissed as frivolous. Should this Court, in the interest of judicial economy, convert this appeal to a personal restraint petition and dismiss it as untimely and successive?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nine years ago, Robert Freeman was found guilty by a jury of rape of a child in the first degree, child molestation in the first degree, rape of a child in the second degree, child molestation in the second degree, rape of a child in the third degree and child molestation in the third degree. CP 148, 154. The charges stemmed from Freeman's long-term sexual abuse of his stepdaughter. The facts of the case were succinctly summarized by this Court in its unpublished opinion dated January 24, 2005:

Amie Freeman's mother, Virginia, married Robert Freeman when Amie was four years old. Sometimes he would go into Amie's room at night and give her a back rub. When Amie was in fourth grade, these back rubs progressed to rubbing Amie's legs, buttocks and vaginal area under her clothing, and digital penetration of Amie's vagina. Amie told a few friends about the molestation, but did not tell Virginia until 1997, when she was in the ninth grade. When Amie told her, Virginia confronted Robert. He denied touching Amie in an inappropriate way. Neither Amie nor Virginia reported the molestation to the police at this time.

In 1999, Amie confronted Robert about the incidents when she was 17 years old. Amie testified that the next year, Robert admitted what he had done and apologized. She said she did not report anything to the police because she was afraid she would be removed from her home and placed in the foster care system.

Virginia reported the incidents to the police on September 17, 2001, after reporting a domestic violence assault by Robert. Virginia told a detective that she had kept one of Amie's teddy bears that had unusual stains, and that she had noticed stains on the carpet around Amie's bed several times. The detective took the bear and several carpet samples from the home Virginia shared with Robert. The Washington State Crime Lab tested them and found Robert's DNA and semen. They did not find any DNA from Virginia on any of the samples.

CP 162.

Following his trial, Freeman hired different counsel, who filed a motion for a new trial. CP 184-88. Freeman alleged that his prior counsel was ineffective for failing to interview four State's witnesses and for failing to conduct an independent DNA analysis. Id.

Freeman's trial counsel submitted a sworn declaration that flatly

contradicted Freeman's claims. CP 203-15. The trial court rejected Freeman's motion for a new trial with extensive written findings. CP 229-35.

On September 13, 2003, Freeman was sentenced to a standard-range sentence of 280 months in prison. CP 151. Freeman appealed, arguing ineffective assistance of trial counsel and prosecutorial misconduct, and arguing that the search of his home was unlawful. This Court rejected Freeman's claims and affirmed his convictions and sentence. CP 161-67. The Washington Supreme court denied Freeman's petition for review, and the mandate issued on January 27, 2006. CP 160.

In September 2006, Freeman filed a timely personal restraint petition in this Court (58785-4-I) alleging that the trial court violated his right to a public trial when it excluded his then-girlfriend from the courtroom during his ex-wife's and stepdaughter's testimony, that his trial counsel was ineffective, that the prosecutor committed misconduct, and that there was insufficient evidence to support the verdicts. CP 170-72. This Court found Freeman's public trial claim was frivolous, and determined that the other issues had previously been litigated on direct appeal. CP 171. The petition was dismissed and the Washington Supreme Court denied Freeman's motion for

discretionary review. CP 168-69. The Certificate of Finality was issued on October 19, 2007. CP 168.

Freeman filed a habeas corpus petition in the United States

District Court on November 6, 2007, again arguing ineffective

assistance of counsel, prosecutorial misconduct, and that his right to a

public trial was violated by the trial court's exclusion of his fiancé from

the courtroom during the victim and her mother's testimony. CP 107.

The court rejected Freeman's claims on the merits and dismissed the

habeas petition. CP 110-22. Both the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals

and the United States Supreme Court refused to hear an appeal of the

dismissal of Freeman's habeas petition. CP 129, 131.

During the pendency of his federal habeas petition, Freeman moved to expand the record to include a claim that a public trial violation occurred during jury selection. CP 108, 132-35. In support of his motion, Freeman presented affidavits from family members and transcripts from the trial. CP 133-34. The Magistrate Judge denied Freeman's motion to expand the record, finding that Freeman had failed to diligently develop the factual basis for his claims in state court. CP 134. Specifically, the court determined that at the time of the state court proceedings, Freeman had been aware of the information he presented in support of his motion to expand the record, but that he had failed to diligently pursue it. CP 134. The

District Court, in its order dismissing Freeman's habeas petition, specifically noted that Freeman had failed to raise his denial of a public trial claim with respect to jury selection in state court, and that he did not raise it in the federal court for nearly a year after he had originally filed his habeas petition. CP 108.

On December 16, 2011, almost six years after the mandate issued on his direct appeal, Freeman filed a CrR 7.8 motion for relief from judgment in the King County Superior Court. CP 1. In the motion, Freeman claimed that his right to a public trial was violated during jury selection and also when his fiancé was excluded from the courtroom during certain testimony. CP 2-3. In support of his motion, Freeman attached the affidavits from his family members, as well as excerpted portions of the verbatim report of proceedings for pretrial motions and jury selection. CP 14-76.

In response to Freeman's CrR 7.8 motion, the State asked the trial court to transfer the motion to this Court for consideration as a personal restraint petition. CP 173-75; RP 21-23. The State argued that the motion was untimely and therefore, under CrR 7.8(c)(2), the trial court was required to transfer it. CP 174; RP 23.

The trial court indicated its belief that the timeliness of Freeman's motion was not an issue for it to determine, but rather a matter for this Court's consideration:

And I make no ruling, specifically make no ruling as to the time issues . . . And if [the Court of Appeals] feel[s] that the time has already expired and it's too late . . . to make that appeal, that's their decision. I make no ruling on that.

RP 33. The trial court stated its belief that the record did not support Freeman's claim that his family was excluded from the courtroom during jury selection, but admitted that it had no independent memory of events. RP 30-31. The court denied Freeman's motion, concluding that the matter was for the appellate courts to decide. CP 139-41; RP 2-33. Freeman filed this appeal. CP 142-43.

C. ARGUMENT

Freeman filed a CrR 7.8 motion for relief from judgment in the superior court almost six years after his judgment and sentence unquestionably became final. The trial court denied the motion.

Freeman had already filed a timely personal restraint petition in this Court, which was dismissed as frivolous and an attempt to relitigate previously decided issues. Because Freeman's CrR 7.8 motion was untimely, the trial court should have simply transferred it to this Court for consideration as a personal restraint petition instead of denying it.

Freeman has failed to establish that his claims fall within any exception to the one-year time limit for collateral attacks. Because untimely claims made in the Superior Court must be transferred to this

Court, it would serve no purpose to remand the matter for the sole purpose of transferring it back to this Court as a personal restraint petition. In the interests of judicial economy, this Court should convert this appeal to a personal restraint petition, and dismiss it as untimely and successive.

FREEMAN'S COLLATERAL ATTACK IS TIME-BARRED PURSUANT TO RCW 10.73.090.

Motions made pursuant to CrR 7.8(b) are subject to the statutory provisions for collateral attacks. See CrR 7.8(b) ("The motion shall be made within a reasonable time . . . and is further subject to RCW 10.73.090, .100, .130 and .140") (emphasis added). A collateral attack is any request for "postconviction relief other than a direct appeal" and includes motions for new trial. RCW 10.73.090(2). With specific statutory exceptions, a collateral attack must be filed within one year of the final judgment. RCW 10.73.090(1). For purposes of calculating this time-bar, a judgment becomes final on the latest of the following dates: (a) the date it is filed in the trial court if no appeal is taken, (b) the date the appellate court issues its mandate disposing of a timely direct appeal, or (c) the date the United States Supreme Court denies a timely petition for writ of certiorari to review a decision affirming the conviction on direct appeal. RCW 10.73.090(3).

Here, the judgment became final on January 27, 2006, the date the mandate issued affirming Freeman's conviction and sentence.¹
RCW 10.73.090(3)(b); CP 160. Freeman's CrR 7.8 motion for relief from judgment was not filed in the King County Superior Court until December 16, 2011, almost six years after his judgment became final.
CP 1. Because Freeman's motion was filed more than one year after the judgment and sentence became final, it is untimely.

CrR 7.8(c)(2) addresses the procedure to be followed when a defendant brings a post-judgment motion for relief in the Superior Court:

The court <u>shall</u> transfer a motion filed by a defendant to the Court of Appeals for consideration as a personal restraint petition unless the court determines that the motion is not barred by RCW 10.73.090 and either (i) the defendant has made a substantial showing that he or she is entitled to relief or (ii) resolution of the motion will require a factual hearing.

CrR 7.8(c)(2) (emphasis added). In other words, the superior court must transfer a collateral attack to the court of appeals, unless it finds

¹ In his reply brief in the trial court, Freeman cited to RCW 10.73.090 and argued that his conviction did not become final until the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari in his habeas proceeding. CP 137. He implicitly makes this same argument in his opening brief. See Brf. of Appellant at 7 ("Once the United States Supreme Court rejected Mr. Freeman's Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Mr. Freeman timely filed a motion to the trial court under CrR. 7.8."). However, the plain language of RCW 10.73.090(3) contradicts Freeman's argument. "[A] judgment becomes final on the last of the following dates: (c) The date that the United States Supreme Court denies a timely petition for certiorari to review a decision affirming the conviction on direct appeal." (emphasis added). Freeman petitioned the Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari in his habeas corpus proceeding, not his direct appeal. CP 131.

that the motion is (1) timely, <u>and</u> (2) the defendant has made a substantial showing that he is entitled to relief <u>or</u> a hearing on the facts is necessary. CrR 7.8(c)(2).

Pursuant to CrR 7.2(c)(2), the trial court was required to transfer Freeman's untimely motion to this Court for consideration as a personal restraint petition. Instead, the trial court specifically declined to make a finding as to the timeliness of Freeman's CrR 7.8 motion.

RP 33. The trial court appeared to believe that timeliness was an issue for this Court to determine. Id. Regardless of the trial court's apparent mistake, because Freeman's motion is untimely, this Court should simply convert this direct appeal to a personal restraint petition and dismiss it as time-barred.

State v. Smith, 144 Wn. App. 860, 184 P.3d 666 (2008) is instructive. There, the superior court erroneously denied the defendant's untimely CrR 7.8 motion instead of properly transferring it pursuant to the court rule. On appeal, the State asked the court to convert the appeal to a personal restraint petition and to dismiss it as untimely. However, because Smith had not previously filed a personal restraint petition, the court declined to automatically convert the appeal, and instead remanded to the superior court to permit Smith an opportunity to withdraw his motion before it was transferred as a personal restraint petition. Id. at 863-64. The court's refusal to

convert the matter was based on the successive petition rule of RCW 10.73.140.

RCW 10.73.140 prohibits the court of appeals from considering a subsequent personal restraint petition raising the same issues as a previous petition, and prohibits consideration of a subsequent personal restraint petition on new grounds without a showing of good cause. A petitioner filling a second or subsequent petition is required to certify that he has not previously filed a petition on similar grounds or to show good cause why he did not raise the new grounds in the previous petition. RCW 10.73.140. If a petition raises the same issues as a prior petition, the court of appeals shall dismiss the petition as successive. Id. If the petitioner fails to show good cause why the claim asserted was not raised earlier, and the petition is also time-barred, this Court must dismiss it. In re Pers. Restraint of Turay, 150 Wn.2d 71, 87, 74 P.3d 1194 (2003). This statutory bar includes all collateral attacks. In re Pers. Restraint of Becker, 143 Wn.2d 491, 496, 20 P.3d 409 (2001).

Because Freeman's CrR 7.8 motion is untimely, the superior court should have transferred it to this Court for consideration as a personal restraint petition. However, at this point, a remand to the trial court to simply transfer the matter back to this Court would serve no purpose. Unlike the petitioner in Smith, Freeman has previously filed

a personal restraint petition, and as such, is already subject to the successive petition rule of RCW 10.73.140. CP 170-72. Thus, there is no concern about potential collateral consequences to Freeman should this Court convert this matter to a personal restraint petition. It would be a waste of judicial resources to remand the case to the superior court simply for the purpose of having the superior court transfer the motion back to this Court. This Court should convert this appeal to a personal restraint petition, and dismiss it as untimely and successive.

Although Freeman states repeatedly that his CrR 7.8 motion is timely, he fails to demonstrate how that is so.² He has not asserted under RCW 10.73.090(1) that his judgment and sentence is invalid on its face or that the court lacked jurisdiction. Nor does he make any argument that his public trial claims fall within one of the exclusive list of statutory exceptions found in RCW 10.73.100.

Instead, without citation to persuasive authority, Freeman asserts that his motion is "timely" because he pursued federal habeas relief in the time period after his direct appeal was mandated. Brf. of Appellant at 7. Specifically, Freeman claims that he "could not" raise

² Freeman cites <u>State v. Golden</u>, 112 Wn. App. 68, 47 P.2d 587 (2002) for the proposition that an eight and a half-year delay was "not unreasonable." Brf. of Appellant at 11. However, Freeman neglects to mention that the <u>Golden</u> court determined that the defendant's judgment and sentence was facially invalid and thus his claim was excepted from the one-year time limit. 112 Wn. App. at 76. Freeman makes no claim that his judgment and sentence is facially invalid.

his claims in state court because "the transcripts were not available until produced for Habeas review," and because "the trial court loses jurisdiction during appellate review." Brf. of Appellant at 13-14.

Freeman is wrong in both regards.

Freeman argues that his motion was timely because "the transcripts demonstrating the voir dire closure never surfaced until the habeas proceedings." Brf. of Appellant at 19-20. However, Freeman does not even acknowledge that the burden of producing support for his claims falls squarely on him. RAP 9.2(b) requires the party seeking review to "arrange for transcription of all of those portions of the verbatim report of proceedings necessary to present the issues raised on review." Freeman cannot claim that he was unaware of the alleged closure at the time that it occurred, nor does he offer any explanation for why he failed to produce an adequate report of proceedings to timely address his claims.

Similarly, Freeman does not claim that he was unaware of the information contained in his family members' affidavits. Indeed, if his family members were required to leave the courtroom during jury selection, these are facts that Freeman would have been aware of at

³ In his direct appeal, Freeman's retained counsel made no arrangement for the transcription of pretrial motions and voir dire. Freeman avoids mentioning this through careful articulation: "[T]he transcripts *never surfaced* until the habeas proceedings." Brf. of Appellant at 19-20 (emphasis added). The transcripts did not "surface" because Freeman never had that portion of the record transcribed.

trial, at the time of his direct appeal, and during the one-year period following issuance of the mandate.⁴ It is not the State's burden to produce evidence supporting post-conviction relief. A personal restraint petitioner bears the burden of showing prejudicial error by a preponderance of the evidence. In re Lord, 152 Wn.2d 182, 188, 94 P.3d 952 (2004). More specifically, when claiming a violation of the right to a public trial, it is a personal restraint petitioner's burden to demonstrate that a courtroom closure actually occurred. In re Pers. Restraint of Yates, No. 82101-1, 2013 WL 991900, *8-9 (Mar. 14, 2013).

In sum, any fault for not bringing his claims in a timely fashion lies with Freeman. Freeman's claim that he was handicapped in his ability to present his claims is without merit. Indeed, he *did* present the issue of his fiancé's exclusion during trial testimony in his timely personal restraint petition, where it was rejected on its merits. CP 171.

Additionally, Freeman argues that the lateness of his collateral attack must be excused because the "trial court loses jurisdiction during appellate review." Brf. of Appellant at 13-14. Freeman's only

⁴ Freeman does not argue that his motion falls within the statutory exception for "newly discovered evidence" under RCW 10.73.100(1). Nor could he, since that requires a showing that the evidence: (1) will probably change the result of the trial; (2) was discovered after the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before the trial by the exercise of due diligence; (4) is material; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching. State v. Macon, 128 Wn.2d 784, 799-800, 911 P.2d 1004 (1996).

authority for this proposition is RAP 7.2(a) and FRAP 41(d),⁵ neither of which support an argument that his motion is timely. RAP 7.2(a) states that "after review is accepted by the appellate court, the trial court has authority to act in a case only to the extent provided in this rule." The rule then dictates that "[t]he trial court has authority to hear and determine . . . postjudgment motions authorized by the . . . criminal rules." RAP 7.2(e). Therefore, even if Freeman's strained interpretation of our state appellate rules dictated that a *federal trial court* proceeding precludes a *state trial court* from acting, Freeman's post-conviction motion for relief is specifically exempted.

Moreover, Freeman's claim is flatly contradicted by the Washington Supreme Court's holding in Scruggs v. Rhay, 70 Wn.2d 755, 761, 425 P.2d 364 (1967), which determined that state courts have concurrent jurisdiction with the federal courts in habeas corpus proceedings. Freeman's argument that his federal habeas proceeding precluded him from timely raising his claims in state court is not supported by any persuasive authority or argument and must be rejected.

, ·

⁵ Freeman makes no argument why Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 41(d) exempts his motion from Washington State's time limit for collateral attacks. The rule merely provides that the federal courts of appeal shall issue a mandate immediately upon denial of a writ of certiorari from the Supreme Court. "Bare assertions and conclusory allegations are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and discussion in a personal restraint proceeding." In re Pers. Restraint of Webster, 74 Wn. App. 832, 833, 875 P.2d 1244 (1994).

2. FREEMAN'S COLLATERAL ATTACK IS SUCCESSIVE.

Additionally, Freeman's petition should be dismissed as successive. As noted above, RCW 10.73.140 bars this Court from considering a collateral attack when the petitioner has previously filed a personal restraint petition asking for similar relief, and also prohibits review of new claims unless the petitioner shows good cause why the new claims were not raised in the prior petition. Id. In the absence of a showing of good cause, an untimely petition must be dismissed.

Turay, 150 Wn.2d at 87.

In his first personal restraint petition (65795-0-I), Freeman raised the exact same claim he raises here—that his right to a public trial was violated when the court excluded his fiancé from the courtroom during certain testimony. CP 170-72. Therefore, this claim is barred under RCW 10.73.140 and the petition must be dismissed as successive.

Moreover, Freeman makes no showing of good cause as to why he did not raise his open courts claim relating to jury selection in his previous petition. Indeed, when presented with Freeman's affidavits and the transcripts from jury selection, the federal district court in the habeas proceeding noted:

. .

although [Freeman] knew of the existence of the above documents and/or information contained in the above documents at the time of his state court proceedings, he did not present it during those proceedings. As a result, [Freeman] "failed to develop the factual basis" for his claims diligently. "Diligence for purposes of the opening clause [of § 2254(e)(2)] depends upon whether [Petitioner] made a reasonable attempt, in light of the information available at the time, to investigate and pursue claims in state court[.]"

CP 134 (citations omitted). Freeman fails to acknowledge that the burden to investigate and pursue his potential claims falls on him. If the transcripts "never surfaced" until the habeas proceedings, it is because he never had the record transcribed until that time. Freeman was present at the trial and if the court improperly excluded his family members from jury selection, he was aware of it and should have pursued his claim in a timely fashion. Because Freeman makes no showing of good cause as to why he did not raise this claim in his previous timely petition, the petition must be dismissed under <u>Turay</u>.

3. IF THIS COURT DETERMINES THAT FREEMAN'S PETITION IS NOT TIME-BARRED, A REFERENCE HEARING IS APPROPRIATE.

The State disputes Freeman's claim that the courtroom was closed during jury selection. Even if this Court determines that Freeman's petition is not time-barred, he is not automatically entitled to relief. Rather, this Court should refer the matter to the Superior Court for an evidentiary hearing.

, ,

A reference hearing in the Superior Court is appropriate when the merits of the petitioner's contentions cannot be determined solely on the record. RAP 16.11(b); <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Hews</u>, 99 Wn.2d 80, 88, 660 P.2d 263 (1983). Both parties may present evidence and subpoena witnesses. RAP 16.12.

Here, the trial court found that the verbatim report of proceedings did not support Freeman's family members' claims that they were made to leave the courtroom during jury selection. RP 31.

Because the facts upon which Freeman bases his claims are disputed, a reference hearing would be necessary in the event his untimely and successive petition is not dismissed. Testimony from the trial prosecutor as well as trial defense counsel would be appropriate. The State would also be entitled to cross-examine Freeman's family members regarding the substance of their affidavits. RAP 16.12.

Because Freeman's claims cannot be determined solely on the basis of the record, if this Court declines to dismiss Freeman's untimely and successive petition, it should transfer the matter to the Superior Court for a reference hearing pursuant to RAP 16.11(b).

D. CONCLUSION

, ,

For the above-stated reasons, this Court should find that Freeman's CrR 7.8 motion was untimely, convert this appeal to a personal restraint petition, and dismiss it as untimely and successive.